### **Licensing Sub-Committee**

Minutes of a Meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held in Committee Room No.1 (Fougeres Room), Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the **16**<sup>th</sup> **September 2015.** 

### Present:

Cllr. Shorter (Chairman);

Cllrs. Bradford, Sims.

### Apology:

Cllr. Miss Martin.

### Also Present:

Interim Licensing Manager, Health, Parking & Community Safety Manager, Licensing Officer, Principal Legal Assistant, Senior Member Services & Scrutiny Support Officer.

PC Alastair Pringle, Sgt Gary Brimson – Applicant's Representatives.

Mr A Daly – Licence Holder, Mr N Baldock – Licence Holder's Representative.

Mr P Fellowes, Mr S Shannon – Interested Parties.

### 132 Election of Chairman

### Resolved:

That Councillor Shorter be elected as Chairman for this Meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee.

### 133 Declarations of Interest

Councillor	Interest	Minute No.
Shorter	Made a Voluntary Announcement as he knew the owner of the property but he had no association with the operation of the business.	135

### 134 Minutes

### Resolved:

That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Sub-Committee held on the 21<sup>st</sup> August 2015 be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

# 135 The Auction House, 7 New Street, Ashford, TN24 8TN - Application for a Summary Review of the Premises Licence

The Chairman opened the meeting and welcomed all those present. The Senior Member Services & Scrutiny Support Officer advised that this meeting was a public meeting and it was intended to hear the whole application in public. However, if during the course of the hearing any items arose that required private or confidential matters to be discussed, it may be necessary to exclude the press and public for that part of the meeting. Members confirmed that they had read the papers relating to the application. The Chairman explained the procedure to be followed at the meeting.

The Interim Licensing Manager then gave a brief summary of her report. The Licensing Authority had received an application for a summary review of the premises licence from the Chief Officer of Police on the 19<sup>th</sup> August 2015. The Police considered that the premises were associated with serious crime. A meeting of this Sub-Committee took place on the 21<sup>st</sup> August to consider whether it was necessary to take interim steps pending the review of the licence. At that meeting the following decision was made: -

 All non bottled drinks to be provided in plastic or polycarbonate glasses. Bottled drinks to be decanted into plastic or polycarbonate glasses or provided in plastic bottles. No glass vessels or bottles to be on the bar or in the public area at any time.

At that meeting the Sub-Committee had considered that the interim steps proffered by the Police, namely interim steps 1, 2, 3 and 5 as detailed on the application (Appendix B to the report) were in fact covered by the existing licence but were not currently being adhered to. The Sub-Committee as such felt that to add the same to the licence would be duplication.

The above decision had taken immediate effect. The premises licence holder did not make any representations against the interim steps at that stage and as such they had remained unchanged to date. The application therefore now came forward for review under Section 53C of the Licensing Act 2003 and the Police had since submitted further documentation in support of their application for review of the premises. This included information regarding the historical events that had happened at the premises which could be found at Appendix E to the report – in summary, in addition to the three serious assaults on 15<sup>th</sup>/16<sup>th</sup> August 2015 which resulted in the interim review, a further 25 calls (later clarified to be 23) had been made to the Police from 18<sup>th</sup> January to 1<sup>st</sup> August 2015. The Police had requested that the interim step made pending the review was added as a condition to the licence and requested that some additional conditions be added to the licence. The Interim Licensing Manager advised that six representations had been made from interested parties in support of The Auction House. She then concluded her report by running through the decision options open to the Sub-Committee.

Sgt Gary Brimson then addressed the Sub-Committee. He advised that there had been a history of disorder at the premises and the Police had previously called for a review of the premises licence in December 2014. At the time the Premises Licence Holder had agreed to amend his conditions following dialogue with the Police and the Licensing Authority and the request for a review had been withdrawn. Since that time there had been a further 23 incidents at the premises and the Police had called for an expedited review of the premises following three serious incidents on the evening of the 15/16<sup>th</sup> August 2015.

Between 23:30 hours and 01:05 hours, three assaults had occurred at the premises. The first involved a victim standing by the bar in a group of approximately 25 friends and colleagues celebrating, whilst there was another group of 15 males on a stag party. Witnesses described an accidental bumping into each other by the two groups, and that a fight then broke out. During this altercation the victim was punched and then hit over the head with a glass. Door security then intervened and the persons were removed outside. Security described seeing 8 to 10 males fighting and once outside the fight started again and Police were called. The victim received three deep lacerations to his face and had received 20 stitches for his injury. Sgt Brimson said that in his opinion the victim had been lucky not to lose an eye. The CCTV footage had not been available as no one present knew how to operate the system, contrary to existing licensing conditions.

The second offence took place on the same evening but was not connected. At around 00:55 hours two females became involved in an argument in the entrance corridor inside the premises. The argument became physical and one of the females threw several punches towards the other. Door security witnessed one of the females throw a glass at the other. Luckily the glass missed and smashed on the floor. Security then removed the two females but the altercation continued. One of the females received a lump on her forehead following a blow. The victim of this assault then began walking away from the premises with her boyfriend which led to the third incident. A person ran up behind them with both arms raised and pushed and punched the boyfriend to the back of the head, knocking him to the ground. The victim did not raise either of his hands to break his fall and he hit the ground face first. The suspect then stamped on the victim's back and head. Door security from the premises was present and helpfully restrained the main aggressor. Police attended and the main aggressor was arrested as was the female offender for the previous assault. The victim was given medical assistance at the time by Kent Ambulance Service and is still receiving treatment. He received multiple fractures to his eye socket, cheek and jaw.

Sgt Brimson advised that the Police had difficulty obtaining the CCTV footage from the premises. It had first been requested when in attendance at the incidents and then on a number of occasions over the following four days. The Premises Licence Holder was on holiday and no other members of staff appeared to know how to operate or access the CCTV. One of the conditions of the premises licence was that CCTV would be available when requested by the Police. The delay in being able to retrieve the footage had allowed a violent offender to remain at large and hinder the investigation. The digital recording device was eventually seized by the Police on Wednesday 19<sup>th</sup> August in order to progress the investigations.

In view of the history of disorder at the premises and the clear involvement of glass in two of the three serious assaults on 15<sup>th</sup>/16<sup>th</sup> August, to prevent further injury and to promote the licensing objectives of prevention of crime and disorder and protection of public safety, the Police suggested that polycarbonate containers were used and this was implemented by this Sub-Committee at the interim review on the 21<sup>st</sup> August. He explained why the Police thought it was appropriate for the interim steps to be made in to a permanent condition on the licence and for the tightening up of the existing conditions as detailed on page 37 of the report. He further indicated that a bound incident book as detailed on page 19 of the report was not being used currently, but rather a lever arch file with loose papers. He explained why this was unsatisfactory, open to abuse and why the current condition for a bound book was so important. Sgt Brimson concluded by directing the Sub-Committee's attention to the conditions the Police had suggested were added to the licence, including the current interim condition, and the list of previous incidents at the premises as detailed in the report.

Mr Baldock, the Licence Holder's Representative then addressed the Sub-Committee. He said he had taken some quick advice from Mr Daly and said he was happy to comply with all of the suggested conditions related to CCTV, training, door staff and the incident book. In fact many of these measures were essentially in place and working effectively. He assured the Sub-Committee that The Auction House took the matter of CCTV very seriously and all staff had subsequently been re-trained in its use and there was now a daily logged check to ensure it was working properly. He said it was the remaining issue of the plastic/polycarbonate containers that he would concentrate his address on.

He said that the incidents that occurred on the 15<sup>th</sup>/16<sup>th</sup> August were both serious and regrettable and they had been taken seriously by all involved at the premises, however he sought to show that the Premises Licence Holder had taken a pro-active approach to look forward and rectify the situation for the future. He considered that any conditions to be imposed on the premises should be appropriate and proportionate and take into account the nature of the premises. It was a small bar, selling premium drinks and attempting to attract the higher end of the market. He referred the Sub-Committee to the representations of the Interested Parties, two of whom had attended to speak today, which described a relatively small, friendly and welcoming establishment with a pleasant atmosphere, seeking to set itself apart from others in the clientele it attracted.

Mr Baldock then referred to the 23 reported incidents since January 2015 and said that the Sub-Committee should view and consider these with some caution. He mentioned that many of the specific incidents, which although recorded against the premises as an 'incident', showed a premises that acted responsibly and worked effectively with the Police. He presented the view that much of the detail was from activities that took place outside the premises, for example people quite correctly being refused entry and becoming agitated, as opposed to activities taking place inside the premises. He also placed emphasis on the fact that none of the 23 incidents mentioned the use of glass, with the exception of a mirror being broken on one occasion.

He said that the incidents of 15<sup>th</sup>/16<sup>th</sup> August should be described as two incidents as the third was a continuation of the second. In the second incident it was true that a glass was thrown but as he understood it a drink was thrown and the glass went with it by accident. The first incident was very nasty but incidents such as this were highly unusual. He considered it was a "perfect storm of two groups coming together" and it had been dealt with well by staff both at the time and in the subsequent weeks. In terms of the issue of plastic glasses, he referred to the pertinent points of the Guidance under the Licensing Act 2003 and explained that it was important for the Sub-Committee to consider what was appropriate and proportionate in this case. He asked if glass was the cause of the events that took place in August or if it was a coincidence that a glass happened to be in the hand of the aggressor in the incidents? As had been stated in one of the representations the glass could have in fact been a mobile phone and these would not be banned. To completely ban the use of glass after incidents on one night would in his view be highly disproportionate. He went on to explain that the use of plastic glasses was putting people off using the establishment and the downmarket association that plastic would have in what was striving to be an upmarket destination. He said that the representations from the Interested Parties effectively explained the type of establishment that The Auction House was and the effect that plastic glasses would have on the clientele.

Mr Shannon, an Interested Party then addressed the Sub-Committee. He said that the main crux of the matter was the decision to replace all glassware with plastic alternatives. The Auction House was a stylish, friendly and welcoming bar and the incidents that took place in August were wholly out of character. Other establishments in the town centre had incidents like this every week so he therefore considered it was a question of proportion and to ban glassware here, after one evening, was overzealous and inconsistent. He said he would like to know how numbers at The Auction House compared with those of other pubs in Ashford. He used the bar both on nights out and for a quiet drink on the way home from work as it was the only place in the town that showcased good quality ales and craft lagers. He did not mind paying a slightly higher price for good quality drinks, but the plastic glasses reduced the quality of the products and detracted from his enjoyment of them. They made it go flat and warm quicker and made a beer lose its flavour and this was particularly devastating for brewers who spent a lot of time trying to perfect a signature taste of a particular brew.

Mr Fellowes, an Interested Party then addressed the Sub-Committee. He said his comments were essentially the same as Mr Shannon's and he too would be interested to know how numbers of incidents at The Auction House compared to other premises in Ashford. It seemed to be just accepted that such incidents took place at other establishments but as soon as something had happened at The Auction House, measures had been taken.

The Sub-Committee then asked questions of Mr Baldock and Mr Daly, the Premises Licence Holder, as well as the Police Representatives.

In response to one of the questions Mr Daly advised that there was a turnover of approximately 1200 customers per week. He also indicated the detrimental effect plastic glasses were having on the type of establishment he was seeking to run. Mr Daly further detailed the measures that were now in place with regard to CCTV, the

incident book and the role that the SIA door staff played in the establishment. He also addressed the signs that he and his staff looked for to establish whether an individual was intoxicated and the measures that would be taken. He assured that all bar and door staff were trained in this regard.

In response to questions from the Sub-Committee the Police Representatives advised that at the time of the previous call for a review in December 2014, they had been satisfied that Mr Daly was adhering to his conditions relating to CCTV. With regard to the second incident in August PC Pringle advised that it was difficult to establish from the CCTV footage how the glass had come to be thrown and whether it was an accident. In general, the quality of the CCTV footage was reasonable, but there were perhaps some slight adjustments required to ensure full coverage of the premises. It was considered that a sensible conversation between the Police and the premises was needed in order to refine this.

The Interim Licensing Manager, Premises Licence Holder's Representative and the Police Representatives all then summed up.

Mr Baldock indicated that the interim measure should be exactly that – interim – and not placed in full on the licence. That to do so would not be a proportionate to the events that had occurred.

Sgt Brimson indicated that the summary review was not a sudden 'knee-jerk' reaction, but was the next step further to the variation that took place previously and the review that almost took place at that time. The Police indicated that continuing with the interim steps and tightening up the conditions as indicated in the report was both proportionate and necessary in order to promote the Licensing Objectives. Further, opinion was given that plastic glasses could be sourced in a quality that was not detrimental to clientele and very good branded plastic drinking vessels existed in the marketplace. He concluded that plastic was already in place and operational and he attributed that fact that there had been no further incidents at the premises to this fact.

The Sub-Committee then retired to make their decision.

On return the Chairman read out the Licensing Sub-Committee's decision and reasons and the Principal Legal Assistant read out the additional notes.

### Resolved:

That the following steps (in bold) be applied to the licence:

- 1. The Licence Holder will ensure that staff are fully trained in responsible sales of alcohol (BIIAB or equivalent) and that training records are kept.
- **2.** (SIA registered door staff will remain until closing until everybody had left the building and vicinity)

the incident book will be updated prior to leaving site by the appropriate member of staff.

### Other points to note-

**3.** The conditions in respect of CCTV

The Sub-Committee considered that these conditions were already addressed on the current licence. However, the Sub-Committee noted that not all cameras may be in their optimal positions. As such the Sub-Committee seek to instruct both the Police and the Premises Licence Holder within the next 21 days to meet and agree the appropriate positioning.

\_\_\_\_\_

### LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE Wednesday 16<sup>th</sup> September 2015

## APPLICATION FOR A SUMMARY REVIEW OF THE PREMISES LICENCE FOR THE AUCTION HOUSE, 7 NEW STREET, ASHFORD, KENT, TN24 8TN, UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 53A TO THE LICENSING ACT 2003

### LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE DECISION AND REASONINGS

<b>OFFICER CASE</b>	
STATEMENT OF	= :

Licensing Manager

REASON FOR MEETING:

An application was made by the Police for a summary review for the premises licence for The Auction House, 7 New Street, Ashford, Kent, TN24 8TN, under the provisions of Section 53A to the Licensing Act 2003

### **DELIBERATION:**

The Sub-Committee was advised at the meeting by the Licensing Officer of the Police's full application, further to the previous interim steps hearing. They heard representations by the Police in respect of their application, and in particular they amplified the 3 incidents that occurred on the 15<sup>th</sup>/16<sup>th</sup> August and the 23 reported incidents since January 2015. The police explained why they thought it was appropriate for the interim steps to be made a permanent condition on the licence and in addition to this tightening up the existing conditions as detailed on page 37 of the report. indicated that a bound book as detailed on page 19 of the report was not being used currently but rather a lever arch file with loose papers. The Police explained why this was unsatisfactory, open to abuse and why the current condition for a bound book was so important. The Police referred to a photograph whereby a victim had narrowly missed losing an eye in the incident that took place in August however this photo was not available to the Sub-Committee.

The Sub-Committee then heard from the Premises Licence Holder's representative who opened his address with the points that essentially the conditions in respect of CCTV, training, bound books were not in dispute. In fact the representative indicated that many of these measures were essentially in place and working effectively. The issues in respect of CCTV training had been addressed and evidence of a log of staff training was presented in this respect. The representative indicated that the main issue for consideration was that of the interim step that was placed on the licence being made a permanent feature.

The Sub-Committee was presented with detail that The Auction

House sought to service the higher end of the market, they supplied premium drinks, had a capacity of approximately 140 people and sought to set themselves apart from other establishments such as Weatherspoons.

The representative indicated to the Sub-Committee that the incidents that took place in August were serious and regrettable, however it was highly unusual. It was in fact a "perfect storm of two groups coming together", further he indicated in respect of the second incident that it was not a throw of the glass but a throw of the drink and the glass went with it.

The representative examined in detail the 23 incidents since January and sought to explain to the Sub-Committee that they should view these and consider the same with caution. He presented the view that they showed a premises that worked effectively with the Police and acted responsibly, that the detail was from activities that took place outside the premises for example people being refused entry and becoming agitated as opposed to activities taking place inside the premises. There was great emphasis on the fact that none of these 23 incidents mentioned the use of glass, the exception being a mirror which was broken on one occasion.

The representative indicated to the Sub-Committee the pertinent points of the guidance as follows - 1.5, 10.10, 11.18, 11.20, 11.23. He went on to explain that the Committee were to consider what was appropriate in this case and to ask themselves what the cause of the events that took place in August was. Was the cause the glass or could the glass have in fact been a mobile phone, an analogy that had been used in one of the representations that he drew the Sub-Committee's attention to. He went on to explain the use of plastic glasses putting people off, the reputation of an establishment forced to use plastic glasses and the downmarket association that plastic glasses would have in what was striving to be an upmarket destination.

The representative indicated that the representations made by members of the public detailed in the report explained effectively the sort of establishment it currently is and the affect plastic glasses had on the clientele.

The Sub-Committee then heard from Mr Shannon and Mr Fellowes, Essentially they addressed the Sub-Committee on the matter of proportionality and questioned whether other premises were forced to use plastic glasses. Both of them explained that the use of plastic glasses detracted from their enjoyment of the drinks that they paid a high price for – in one instance £4 for a pint.

The Sub-Committee heard from the Premises Licence holder

himself and who on answering questions from the Sub-Committee indicated that there was a turnover per week of approximately 1200 customers. Again he indicated the detrimental affect plastic glasses had on the type of establishment he was seeking to run.

The Sub-Committee heard the summing up from both the Premises Licence Holder and the Police. Essentially the premises licence holder indicated that the interim measure should be exactly that – 'interim' and not placed in full on the licence. That to do so was not a proportionate response to the events that had occurred. The Police indicated that the summary review was not a sudden knee-jerk reaction, but was the next step further to the variation that took place previously and the review that almost took place at that time. The Police indicated that continuing with the interim steps and tightening up of the conditions as indicated in the report was both proportionate and necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives. Further, opinion was given that that the use of plastic glasses, the like of which could be sourced in a quality that was not detrimental to clientele and their existed very good branded plastic drinking vessels in the marketplace. It was further indicated by the Police that plastic was already in place and operational and they attributed the fact that there had been no further incidents at the premises to this fact.

Upon retiring to consider the summary review, the Sub-Committee recited to themselves the following:

That their decision should be made with regard to the Secretary of State's guidance and the Council's Statement of Licensing Policy under the Licensing Act 2003. Where the decision departs from either the guidance or policy clear or cogent reasons must be given. Members should be aware that If such departure is made the chances of appeal/challenge is increased.

The Sub-Committee refreshed themselves on all of the points of guidance that had been referred to by the Police and the Premises License Holder's representative, in addition to Paragraph 1.16 of the guidance. The Sub-Committee also refreshed their minds of the options open to them.

The Sub Committee appreciated that the focus for interim steps were the immediate measures that were necessary to prevent serious crime or serious disorder occurring. (Section 53A Licensing Act 2003, summary review guidance). The Sub-Committee now being in full awareness of all facts in respect of a summary review were mindful that they were no longer dealing with a short-term measure to be placed on the licence if minded to add a Condition but were considering if full conditions should be placed on the licence in order to promote the licensing objectives. The licensing objective pertinent in this matter was that of the

Prevention of Crime & Disorder and Public Safety.

The Sub-Committee first considered the interim steps on page 37 of the report as follows:

1. The Licence Holder will ensure that staff are fully trained in responsible sales of alcohol (BIIAB or equivalent) and that training records are kept.

The Sub-Committee noted that there was no opposition to this being placed on the licence and upon review of the current conditions on the licence thought that it would enhance the measures already in place.

2. The conditions in respect of CCTV

The Sub-Committee considered that these conditions were already addressed on the current licence. However, the Sub-Committee noted that not all cameras may be in their optimal positions. As such the Sub-Committee seek to instruct both the Police and the Premises Licence Holder within the next 21 days to meet and agree the appropriate positioning.

3. SIA registered door staff will remain until closing until everybody had left the building and vicinity and the incident book is updated fully.

The Sub-Committee considered that this condition was in the main already on the current licence. However, the Sub-Committee noted that there was no reference to an incident book. Therefore the current condition which is listed on the licence under the heading 'The Prevention of Public Nuisance' with the addition of the details as follows – the incident book will be updated prior to leaving site by the appropriate member of staff.

The Sub-Committee then considered the interim step placed on the licence being made permanent, namely the condition in respect of plastic glasses. The Sub-Committee deliberated in great detail the proportionality of placing this on the conditions of the licence. What was an appropriate interim step did not necessarily follow to be an appropriate or proportionate condition on the licence.

The Sub-Committee appreciated the explanations made on respect of the incidents that had occurred and the detailed analysis of the same by both the Police and the representative for the Premises Licence Holder. It was noted that this was a very busy town centre establishment with approximately 1200 customer

attendances per week. The Sub-Committee believed that it put in to perspective the number of incidents that, criminal or otherwise, had occurred at the premises and were mindful that in light of the large number of visitors the proportion of negative events was indicative of a well managed premises. In fact it was noted that many of the incidents recorded were those reported by the premises to the Police and through the Town Net radio service, use of which should not be discouraged - Again evidence that the premises took the matter of crime and disorder seriously and sought to resolve negative incidents swiftly and effectively. The Sub-Committee were mindful that praise had been levied on the swift actions of the SIA door staff involved in the August incidents.

In light of the above, and in consultation with the Guidance and the evidence presented the Sub-Committee considered whether the use of plastic glasses was necessary for the protection of the public and prevention of crime and disorder and whether this was a proportionate response to the incident that had occurred in August and the subsequent negative events.

The Sub-Committee were not minded to continue with the interim measure that had been placed on the licence in this regard.

The Sub-Committee had been very concerned that the current Licensing Conditions had not been fully complied with, however the Sub-Committee moving forward has confidence that the Licence Holder acknowledges his shortcomings, has put steps in place to rectify the same and will continue to work with the Police and the Licensing Authority to promote all of the Licensing Objectives.

### **DECISION MADE:**

That the following steps (in bold) be applied to the licence:

- 1. The Licence Holder will ensure that staff are fully trained in responsible sales of alcohol (BIIAB or equivalent) and that training records are kept.
- 2. (SIA registered door staff will remain until closing until everybody had left the building and vicinity) the incident book will be updated prior to leaving site by the appropriate member of staff.

Other points to note-

3. The conditions in respect of CCTV

The Sub-Committee considered that these conditions were already addressed on the current licence. However, the Sub-Committee noted that not all cameras

may be in their optimal positions. As such the Sub-Committee seek to instruct both the Police and the Premises Licence Holder within the next 21 days to meet and agree the appropriate positioning.

### Additional notes made by the Sub-Committee at the meeting -

- This decision of the Licensing Authority will not have affect until the end of the period allowed for the appeal which is 21 days from the License Holder being notified of the Licensing Authority's determination or until the disposal of the appeal. (Licensing Act 2003 S.53C(11))
- An appeal may be made by the Premises Licence Holder, the Chief Officer of Police and/or any other person who made a relevant representation.
- Accordingly until such time as the decision comes in to affect, the interim steps taken on 21<sup>st</sup> August 2015 remain in place.